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West Concord
Town

Name of Area (if any)

Reformatory

Present Use Residential and

institutional, (prison)

General Date or Period

18th -late 19th

century

General Condition

poor to fair

Acreage

Approximately 45 acres

Recorded by 2- Forbes

Organization

for Concord Hist. Comm.

Date 3/18/88

USGS QUADRANGLE

SCALE




-

Conv-X

NATIONAL REGISTER CRITERIA STATEMENT (if applicable)

In the retention of both its main public building and most of its employee housing in
nearly unaltered condition, the Mass. Reformatory area still possesses integrity as a
rare example of a complete late 19th-century prison administration and housing complex.
It meets Criterion A both as a symbol of the penal reform attitudes of its time, and for
its direct association with Concord's development in the late 19th/early 20th centuries.
Tt meets both Criteria A and C as an unusual involvement by the Commornwealth in the
construction of both administrators' and employee housing.

ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE Describe important architectural features and evaluate in terms of
other areas within the community.
The area comprised of MCI-Concord, (the former State Prison and Mass. Reformatory for *

Men,) and its associated employee houses and adjoining landscape, is a rare and )
outstanding example of a late 1870's and early '80's prison complex. The ceremonial,
official self-importance of the brick and stone Second-Empire Superintendents' House
contrasts with the simple volumes of ten pitched-roof, wood-frame double houses situated
on the streets to its east and west. A sense of the evolution of the prison property is
provided by a mid-late 18th-century wood-frame farmhouse, (the John Cuming house—-NR),
across Rte. 2, and two later-19th-century, wood-frame houses with full 2-story verandas
located on prison property at 395/397 and 401/403 Commorwealth Av.; #395/397 originally
housed "the prison store," as well. Two mid-twentieth-cenury brick law-enforcement
buildings on the north side of Rte. 2, the state police office building and garage,
complete the sense of consistent, uninterrupted use by the Commonwealth.

. HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE Explain historical importance of area and how the area relates to the
development of other areas of the community.

The Reformatory area is important at the national, state, and local levels.
Originally built in 1878 as "the New State Prison," to replace the deteriorating,
early-19th century facility in Charlestown, the siting of such a major penal institution
in an open area of a country village was unprecedented in Massachusetts. Great
apprehension at such a location was expressed by both the legislature and the employees

] who had to move their families here. But the presence of 3 major railway lines promised
the efficient transport of personnel and supplies, a design competition, (won by Boston

j architect George Ropes,) was held to achieve the very latest in prison design, and the
fears of the officers were alleviated by additional appropriations voted by the
legislature for the construction of ten double houses for employees. Five of them, #s
407-441 Commorwealth Av., still stand. In 1884, the Commorwealth built six more houses
for the staff; located just to the east of the prison wall, five of them remain, in
various states of disrepair. By 1880, the area also possessed a train
station/hotel/restaurant-— "Reformatory Station,” and "the Central House"-—(now
demolished,) opposite the prison entrance.

BIBLIOGRAPHY and/or REFERENCES

Mass State Documents, 1873-84, including annual reports of the State Auditor, the
Committee on Prisons. the State Prison, and the Mass. Reformatory.
sThe Concord Freeman. 1875-84.
_/’Ehe Concord Enterprise. 1890-1905.
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INVENTORY FORM CONTINUATION SHEET lani v Form No:

MASSACHUSETTS HISTORICAL COMMISSION

Office of the Secretary, Boston i b jj
lProperty Name : Reformatory

Indicate each item on inventory form which is being continued below.

ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE, cont.:

Although many are in deteriorated condition, all the early buildings retain their
original fabric and configuration to a remarkable degree. Remarkable, too, is the
retention of over 150 acres of adjoining agricultural landscape associated with the
prison complex. The cornfields to the west, now farmed by labor from the Northeast
Correctional Center, appear today much as they did when worked by inmates from the
Reformatory in the 1880's.

HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE, cont.:

The area as it stands today is still an eloquent illustration of late 19th-century
attitudes toward prison design-—attitudes that expected the institution to present an
imposing, monumental exterior, while providing simple, low-cost, yet comfortable lodgings
for its employees.

Along with the construction of the Mass. Reformatory for Women in Sherborn in 1876,
the facility at Concord made the Massachusetts penal system a national model for prison
reform when, in 1884, under Gov. Butler, it became the Mass. Reformatory for Men. The
new reform philosophy called for a radical restructuring of prison life, in which inmates
were to be rehabilitated academically, professionally, and morally. The result for West
Concord was a deep involvement between the Reformatory and the community. The
institution's staff mushroomed, as local residents were hired to teach in the trade
departments and evening classes, and local companies such as Phoenix Rattan and the
Waring Hat Factory employed inmate labor for their products. During the 1880's, before
its move to Concord Junction, the Boston Harness Co. was located at the Reformatory.
Attending Sunday services in the prison chapel even became popular with the growing West
Concord population, which had no church of its own.

More than any other single group, Reformatory personnel and their families shaped
West Concord's rapid development at the close of ﬁé 19th century. Riverside Park, much
of upper Commonwealth Av., and large sections of Concord Junction were developed by its
staff members, (such as Joseph Scott and George Russell,) and filled with houses occupied .
by its employees. Every one of the founders of the Union Church was connected with the /
Reformatory, as were most of the leaders of West Concord's early social, sports, and
philanthropic organizations. A case in point is the West Concord Women's Club, founded
in 1902 by the wives of three Reformatory officers, which is still active today.
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WEST CONCORD AREA I: REFORMATORY. AREA LIST Page 1

Street numbers marked with an asterisk, (*,) indicate properties
which also appear on Streetscape Forms; those with two asterisks,
(**,) appear on individual forms; National Register-listed properties
are marked "NR".

Elm St.

*875/877 Elm St.

1883-84 2-story vernacular Italianate double-house, built by
Commonwealth of Massachusetts to house State Prison employees. Wood
clapboard.

*885/887 Elm St.
Identical to #875/877 Elm.

906 Elm St.--NON-CONTRIBUTING
Mid-20th century 2-story, hip-roofed brick State Police office
building.

936 Elm St.--NON-CONTRIBUTING
Mid-20th century, l-story State Police garage. Brick.

**¥965 Elm St.
“.2-story brick Second-Empire MCI-Concord administration building.
Built in 1877/78; designed by George Ropes.

‘NR: 998 Elm St.
The John Cuming House. Late 18th-century 2-story, pitched-roof
wood-frame farmhouse. Wood clapboard.

Elm Place

*19/21 Elm Place
Identical to 875/877 Elm St.

¥29/31 Elm Place
Identical to 875/877 Elm St.

*39/41 Elm Place
Identical to 875/877 Elm St.

COMMONWEALTH AVENUE

*395/397 Commonwealth Av.

2 1/2-story, gable-front Victorian vernacular 2-family house with
2-story, facade-width verandas. Ca. 1880, with later alterations.
Formerly Flagg & Russell's, (later George Russell's) "prison" store.
Wood claphoard.
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WEST CONCORD AREA I: REFORMATORY, AREA LIST Page 2

*401/403 Commonwealth Av.
Ca. early 1890's 2-family house. See general description for
#395/397 Commonwealth, above. Wood clapboard.

*407/409 Commonwealth Av.

2-story vernacular Victorian double house; pitched-roof with
center facade gable; l-story rear ell. Wood clapboard. Built
1877-78 by Luther Bailey and completed by Fuller and Davis for the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts, as housing for State Prison
employees.

*415/417 Commonwealth Av.
See description for #407/409 Commonwealth, above.

*423/425 Commonwealth Av.
See description for #407/409 Commonwealth.

*431/433 Commonwealth Av.
See description for #407/409 Commonwealth.

*¥439/441 Commonwealth Av.
See description for #407/409 Commonwealth.
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HISTORICAL EVALUATION
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INTRODUCTION:

This historical evaluauon of the Vhite and Green Rows at MCI Concord has been
undertaken &s part of the archutectural survey. its purpose 1s 1o document the history
and architecture of the Rows. 10 determine wether thev are eligible for listing 1n the
National and State Registers of Historic Places. and to define what features should be
preserved if rehabilitaton 15 underteken. The text 1s divided 1010 21X secuons:

kethodology

. cummary of Significance
Historical Background
Descripuon

Preservaton Consideratons
Eitlicgraphy

R Y

METHODOLOGY:

The history of MCI Concord is well documented in the writtea record and through
historic photographs. Th= kev primery sources are architect's specifications, agency
annual reports, documents of the General Court, local newspepers, end historic
maps/atlases. A secondary source that has proved especially useful is Marden's 1880
souvenir History of the Commonwealth which includes chapters on the prisons at
Conzord, Charlestown and framingham. Tavid ] Rothman's 1971, The Discovery of the
asylum hes provided the context for 19th century pricon refarm in the United States.

The White and Green Rows of workers’ housing which frame the east and west sides of
the prison vard have received substanually less attenuocn, although thev are ¢
menuoned i the sources noted above. The most comprehensive history of these late-
13th century wood-frame houses 15 the excellent 1337 paper bv Anne McCarthy Forbes
enutled. “The White Ladies”: And "The Green Row": Prison Workers' Houses 1n Concord,
MA b= the Commonwealth of Massachusets.

This report has relied heavily on the Forbes paper for historics! information about the
White and Green Rows, and about the priscn in general. Unless otherwise cited, this
should be considered as the source of specific details. Footnotes o sources such a5
annual reports and local newspapers are found in the Forbes report. Most of the
1udgements concerning the physical evolution of the houses rel on observation of
extent features and knowledge about what historical periods produced those festures.
The observations were made during the course of several visits which enteiled walk-
throughs of all vacant unite, and exterior inspecticns of all units.

SUMMARY OF HISTORICAL AND ARCHITECTURAL SIGRIFICANCE/
RELATIONSHIP TO NATIONRAL REGISTER CRITERIA:

On july 8. 1975, the members of the Massachusetts Historical Commission formally voted
MCI Concord eligible for lisung 1n the National Register of Historic Places. At that ume,
the nominauon inciuded the prison, prison yard and associated workers' housing (see
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eap) The niminauon process T8 thea puton hold, gending a @uor reconitrusncn

POt &

erfort which resulted 1n demolitton of much of the pricon proger. More recently ({ 335-
precent). MHC stafT have exprezzed the opinien that the White and Sreen Fow hores
are eligible for lisung in the National and State Registers of Historic rlaces. Thus they

- have requested that DCPO/DOC enter 1nto consuttenon with them concermng the ruture
" of the houses. The Concord Historical Commission and the Fcard of Selectmen have
expressed similar consern.,

This report examines the history. architecrure end potental significance of the
worker's housing which. along with the ¥arden's House (now Administration ). are the
only remaining buildings essociated with the 19th cenwury prison. The conclusions of
this report concur with MHC's asseruon that thess buildings are sligible for the
Natonal and State Registers of Historis Plazes.

The recility now xnown s MCI Conscrs was constructed in 137%-72 22 the second state
prison in Meacsachusets (after Lharlestown. 306, no longer extant). In 1884, 1t beceme
the state’s first reformatory for men. The historical significance of the facility within
the development of the Massachiuseus penal svstem 15 unquestionable. Establishment of
MCIConcord also had a mator tmpact on the West Concord community, a2ting as an
important sumulus in 115 development.

The history of the twelve wood-Irame double-houses that constitute the ¥hite and
Green Rows at HICI Concerd is intmately associated with that of the pricon. Theyare
also intact examples of late [9th century =mrkers housing and represent an unusual if
0ot unique 1cursion of the ctate inte this type of housing. Their significance is
heightened by the fact that. aleng the former ¥ardens' house, they are the only extant
features of the 19th centurr prison.

The remaining [9th century comgponeats of MCI Concord--the Varden : Souse and the
White and Green Rows--possess integrity of location. design, materials, workmanship,
feeling and association es specified by the National Register criteria. Integrity of
setting has been somewhat dicrupted by the reconstiruction of the prison yard in the
mid-1970s. Asagroup, these buildings apgear 10 be eligible for the National and State
Pegisters of Historic Places under criteris a ("azsociated with evenrs thet have made s
cigaificant contribution 1o the bread patterns of cur history”Y and C {"embody the
distinctive characterisnucs of a tvpe. perind or method of construstion. and reprecent s
significant and distinguwichable enuty whose ccaponents may lack individual
distinction ™).

HISTORICAL BACEGROUND:

The State Prison 3t Concor?d

The correcticnal facility now known as MCI Concord originated in the mid-1570s a5 the
second state prison in Massacriizerts. At that ume. the Commonwesith 3 penal system
consisted of a Jeteriorated and overcrowded state prison at Charlestowm (1806: Charles
Bulfinch ) supplemented by several local and county jauls. The state prison wes devoted
10 inMmates serving long tera SEntences.
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Lonsteucnen f *he pricon 2t Londord was precsded trteveral years of Teneten?

debsare about the neeo tor such aracility. the potential nuwber of 1nmates 1o be
accommodated. the amount 12 te expended and posotble locannns. Finally 10 1274
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acre site in rural West Concord was selected Irom a field of 58. Factlors in 115 favor were

similar 10 those which governed celectuon of sontemporsry State Hospitad sores:
proximity 10 rail lines. good drainage. availability and low cost of land, and lack of local
opposiuon.

[
i

George Ropes, a Boston architect. was selected from over thirty compeutors es designer
of the new prison. Builtof brick with granite trim, the prison included a mansard
roofed warden/deputy warden 'c house s1anding in front of walls which enclosed cell
blocks. support facilites and workshops. Onlv the warden's house remains today.
Construction began in August. 1875, and the pricon was orficially opened cn Mw
16,1878, Its capacity wes 730 prisoners. The finsal cost of construcuon was $25,300

under the authorized budget of $1,000.000 (Marden ).

Within arfew vears of {1¢ opening, Concord State Prison was cited 1or nuUMeErous

problems including overcrowding, impure and inadequate water supply, chronic dedt,

and a high death and disease rate. By 1882, it wes the subiect of a Senate investigauon -
which led to dismissal of its second warden, Ralph Earle, the following year.

The Massachuzetts Reformaters Priscn for Men ar Concord:

During this period, the Commonwealth was being influenced by a second wave of
prison reform e:med at counteracung the incressing!y custodial nature of the penal
svystem. Thus, in 1884, the Senate Commitiee on Prisons recnmmended the eststlichment
of areform fecility for men, infiuenced by the successiul examples of the
Messachusetts Reformatory for Women 2t Sherborn of 1877, and the men’s reformatory
at Eimnira, New York. It was de<ided to move the State Prison back to Cherlestown, and to
convert the Concord facility 10 the new Reformatory. By the fall of 1884 the move had
teen accomplished, end the kiassachusetts Reformatory Prison for Men opened at
Concord in Decemter.

Fecognizing that many prizoners lacked toth formal education =2 well as trataing in

any userul occupation. and that this was a serious hindrance 10 their rehabilitation. the

reformatory routine scught 1o remedy the situation. This change in prizon philosophy

had a maior 1mpect on the surrounding community. leading 0 greater integrauon.
Teschers were hired at $1,000/vear, arrangements for emplovment with local

'*1 Justries were made. and the number of prison emplovees in cenersl mushroomed.

History of the White and Green Fov Houses:

7est Concord was almost entirely undeveloped in the early 137C: with the excegtion of
Warner'c pail factory. Thus. housing Ior prison guards became a matter of concern,
and provision of such facilities wes authorized as part of the prison legislaticn. After
inital confusion about the nuamber and type of accommodations to be provided, it w2s
Jecided in 1875 10 build tven*y ~wo-family dwellings along the western edge of the
prison. Luther Bailev. acontractor from West Newton, was selected from among twenty
bidders on October 19, 1876. By that ume. the total number of houses had been cut to ten
and the budget had been cet at $34,710.



Con .

BConctricuon teven an agrst 7 1277 <th revers! crewt working under Sailey and hie
sbrother. The Concord Ereemen reported that eight of the nouses were standing on june
14, 1877. Bv fall however, Batley %22 bankrupt, 07ing his sutconiraciors &5 well as
.jocal merchants. Auditors ac-ounts indicate that the 1ot was completed by the firm of
 Fuller & [avis.

The Acton Patriot reported that the row of houses, by then known ac "“Commonwesith
Row . was completed in tume for the prison opening in the spring of 1878. Before that
yme, the Governor had granted an exwra $3.000 for wallpapering and finishing the

- interiors. Kent wes set at $150/year for each cf the twenty uaits.

e
-

The ten Commonwealth Row dwellings were identical wood-frame double-houses rising
. 2and 1/2 stories from brick foundauons 10 siate gable roofs. They were fronted by
simply detailed porches and extended to the rear by Kitchen ells. Thus, they continued
the raditional form that had evnlved for such dwetlings since the teginning of the
13th century (see Descripuon for additional detaal).

Although there was a documented need for additionsal housing for prison emplovees. no
. geuon ¥ss taken unu! 1784 when the Srate Pricon became the Stare Reformatory. At

E¥ that ume, the corner of Elm Street and Elm Place was developed with 51X more double
houses which were probatly consiricted by ow-bdidder C H. Chandler of Malden. The
rent remained at $150/vear for each unit.

The Elm Street/Elm Place houses were very similar 10 their predecessors on
{ommonwealth Avenue. They were also 2 and 1/2 story, wnod-{reme double-houses
+1th front porches and rear Kitchen ells. Precumably to cut expenses, they were
originally roofed with wnod thingles: in 1997, the shingles were replaced with more
durable slate (see Description ror addiuonal detail).

By the turn-of the-century, 130 additional houses had been added to the south end of
Common<eslth Row. on pricon property where Flagg and Russell’s grocery store had
been located. The documents studied for this report and for the forbes paper are
unclear as 10 the specific orizins however. [1 13 nnt kaown wether they were
constructed as additional emplovee housing in response 10 the ¢onstant requests made
by the Superintendent iz hiz =nnusl reports. or o come other surpose. Because they
were constructed on siate property, 1t appears likely that they were sponsored by the
{ommonwealth which rex:n12 the owner 10day.

These two dwellings were als0 2 and 1/2 story, wood-Trame two-zmily houses which
meintained the scale and siting o their neighbors. Thevy differed primarily in their
dupliex {one unit placed above the other) rather than double-house (units placed cide
by side) plan. Exterior features that reflected this interior arrangement of space, were
the rwo-story front porches, and lack of reer kitchen ells.

Some indication of late-19th century i2xprovements 10 the White and treen Row houses
can be found in the annual reports and have been ¢ited by Forbes. "By the mid-15680s,
all the officers’ houses were heated with steam directiy from the ¢rison. In 1885 the
houses on Commonwealth Kow were connected to the reformatory's sewage system and
fitted out with 'w.¢.z and tathnibs and sidewalks were installed for both groups of
dwellings. In 1889. grass. elm trees. 2treet lights, and a new brick sidewalk, partof
which remeains today, were inctatied 2ong Commonweaith Row. In 1897 the bathrooms
were 3gain improved with hot water and showers, and the roofs of houses to the east of
the main pricon wvere chenved f'rom shingle o slate.”

Hi



. The Prison/Reformatory and the #Weet © onoord Coomunity

Vhen the State Prison opened in 1878, Concord was & small rural t1owvn whose population
nad remained stable at <2250 for over twenty years. West Concord was known primarily
as an 1ndustrial village whose economy s founded on the Damon cotton mill (NR) end
Varner's pail factory. The latter wes directv south of the prison, near the tracks of the
Boston & Fitchburg Railroad. Opening of the prison led to an immediate populaticn
incresse of approximately 1,000 including 750 prisoners, plus the 55 employees and
their families.

Establishment of the pricon helped to extend the toundaries of “Waraerville” or
Concord Junction northward. 4 new school and post orfice were soon addeqd o the
community, snd a new railroad station wSs erected across from the prison entrance on
Eim Street. Flegg & Russell's prison store end grocery opened in 1878 in two buildings
on prison property just south of the Commonwesalth Row houses (it i possible that these
are incorporated into 295-67 and 401-03 Commonwealth Row}. Frison employees ¥ho
could not be accommodated by the limited state sponzored housing found lodgings st
the new prison station hote! and at Mrs. Hampson s Boarding House. Additioneally, some
residents, including Ralph Warner, constructed rentel housing on Commonwealth ROW.

The prison’s impeact on the surrounding sommunity became even more profound after
its conversion 10 the State Peformatory 1n 1884. The newemphasison formal education
of prisoners coupled with trzining in job £kills led to the need for teachers and for
cooperative arrangements w1ta local industries. Teachers were hired at the generous

rate of $1,000/veer. The reformatory quickly became the t1own's largest emplover and
offered some of the highest salaries.

By the 1330s, prison officers who rented the state houses bégan 10 appear 85 officers
and board members of 1ocal organizations tndicaung afull integration 1nto the
community. One example 15 the West loncord Women's Ciub which wes established in
1502 by the wives of three prison officers living on Cocmmonwealth Row.

MCIConcord in the Twentieth Century:

Several important changes have ncourred at the gricon tn the second haif of the 20th
century. As partof asystem-Tde reorgenizaton, it W r desiznated MCI Concord by
Chepter 770 of the Acts of 1955, Atabout the same ume. upgrading of Elm Street a°
Eoute 2 led to the demolition of the five northernmaost houses on Commonwealth Row
{see historic photo). The essternmost house on Elm Street may have been lost at the
seme tme. Finally, a major rebuilding campaign in the mid-1970s led to the demolition
of most of the surviving prison buildings (see 1975 draft Nauonal Register form).
Today, only the brick warden s house, and the twelve wood-frame officers’ houses
remain, es reminders of thiz important chapter in Massachusetts penal historT.
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Description:

General area:

MCI Con<ord is located on the south zide of State Route 2 just east of the Ccncord rotery.
It faces & mid-20th century state police office building end garsge on north side of
_Route 2. The associated prison farm 12 located north of rotary. Vood-frame two-family
houses, historically constructed for prison emplovees, flank the east and west sides of
the prison yard. On the west. the prison vard is bounded by Commonvwealth Row which
_links the Route 2 rotary with the center of Vest Concord. The five earitest houses
(1877) and the twn latest houses {¢1900) stand side-by-side on the vest side of
Commonwesalth Row facing the wall of the prison {photo #1). To the rear they
overlook the pastoral scene provided by woods. fields and Varner's Pond {photo #2).
Fim Place defines the east side of the prison yard. Five edditional houses dating from
1684 stand at the corner of Poute 2 (Elm Street) and Ilm Place. The three houses on Eim
Pisce face the landscaped front vard of the prison complex. All five overlook woods,
fields and the Assabet River to the rear. Housing similar to that of the prison is found
in the West Concord villege area. The prison housing. which can be categorized as
three basic types. is described below:

Tvpe . Fhite Row including 407-441 Commonwesith Row

These five houses sl date from 1877 end the original opening of the prison. Theyare
the northernmast houses on Commonwealth Row. They are bordered by e parking lot
(North), Type 111 houses (South), and & wooded sre= (West): the face the blank prison
wall across Commonwealth Row (East). Fiwe identical houses. located on the preseat
perking iot, were demolished in the 19505 during the upgrading of Eim Street o astate
highway (cee historic ghoto).

Exterior ADDEETANCE:

Typically. this is a wood-frame Jouble-houce thar rices 2 and 1 /2 stories from a brick
and stone foundation 1o sn overhanging slate gable root with interior s10ve chimneys.
The house ic cheathed with clapboards and trimmed with cornerboards. watertable and
faseia with half-round moldings underlining the enure roof profile. Fenesirauon s
regular. and aligned at the firstand tecond stories; windowe 2re wrimmed with molded
frames. bracketed sills, louvered shutters. and contain 2/2 double-hung sash (photo *7)
A central facade gable containing paired windows with narrow 1/1 lights is the
dominent element of the four tay front (East) elevation (photo #3). At the first S10r7,
paired entries occupy the central bays while single windows occupy the outer bays.
The entries have molded frames and contain giazed and paneled double-leaf doors
(photos ®4, 5, 6). Thev are ironted by asingle porch whose shaliow hip-roof {5
supported by three evenly-spaced chamrered posts with diagonal brackets. Paits with
simple square balusters run along the sides of the porch and down the four steps that
lead up 10 the porsh (photoe £4 © . <4). Four windows are aligned at the second S1OTY.

zide elevarions contain v TAndows 2t each story, with those in the antic more clocely
spaced (photes *8, 3).

-



CoN -3

: The rear ' Vet elevzron 12 Jomesnzred S aone story Litthen =11 with 22l sove

 ¢himney supported by diagonal braces attached 1o the two main ¢himneys

" (photos #9, 10). The ell ic centered on the rear elevaton which contains single

" windows 1n the outermost bays. At the intersection of the eil and the main house are

\ small rectangular sheds that contan entrees 10 the basement (photo #11). Both gides of

the ell consist of two bays containing a window (East) and a psneled entry wiih 150

light trensom and bracketed shed roof (West; photo #12). The rear of the ell contains

+v0 windows. Above the ell, at the second story, are four evenly spaced windows
{(photo #13). '

. Free standing, gable roofed, wood frame garages that probably date from the 1920c or

: 1930s are located behind the houses (photo #14). These garages do not contribute 0
the historic/aerchitectural significence of the Vhite Row.

Interior Appearance:

The Type-I house is a double house consisting of twn mirror image dwellings connected
by a central party wall. Common iving spaces 0ccupy the first story with bedrooms at
the second and atti¢ stories. Rooms are generously sized with high ceilings; oversized

. windows admit abundant light. Interior finishes include lath and plaster walls
{condition veries from good 0 poor) and ceilings (pressed tin ceiling is found in one
kitchen), wood floors, end heavy molded window and door casings (photos 15, 16, 17)
whose bold profiles are reminiscent of the early-mid 19th centwury Greek Revival style.
The newel posts and balusters are turned with heavy preportions (photo *#18). Interior
doors are four paneled with long narrow panels over squared panels; this is a typical
iater 19th century form (ghoto *19).

The plan is typical of these deweloped for this house type during the 12th century (Plan
# ) The mein entran<e leads int a stasrhall adiacent to the party well. Behind the
stasrhell is a narrow corridor that leads to the Kitchen which occupies the one story
rear ell. Adjacent to the stairhall are the living room or parior and dining room which
nccupy the prominent and well lighted corner cpaces.

Typically, the front room i 3 living room with e passageway lesding 1o the Jievin
directi7 behind. The dining room 15 equipped with a built-in storage <laset (phioto #20)
and has direct access to the kitzhen. Both were originally hezted by 2tovez cerved b7
the common 1nterior chimnev. Flooring is etther wide pine or nerrow maple board;
sometimes the maple is 1aid in & decorative pattern to form s frame (photo #2111
sometimes the wood flooring 1s covered by linoleum or carpeung.

The kitchens ere large rooms Iinished with vertical wainscotting {photo #22). They
wvere originally equipped with stoves cerved by the flues on the party walls. Storege
pantries are located on the interior walls (East), while working pantries and rear
vestibules take up the outer (West; photo #22) walls.

At the second storvy. large tedrooms with original closets oceupy the spaces above the
living and dining rooms. Thev were also heated by stoves served by the interior
shimnevs. Smaller rooms that may eriginally have served for storege flank the steir;
the cne to the rear has been converted to bathroom use (¢1885; photo #26). Finishes
are simitar to those of the first story with slightly simpler door and vindow casings
{photo #23). Floors are all of wide pine boards. Corner posts are exposed in the storage
r0oms 1n a very old-fashinned manner.
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The atuc story 1s nearlv identical 10 the second 5:orv  The bedrooms are <ut Somewhat
zhort by the slope of the reol. Door and window S30INgs are substen1ally simpler 1n
profile (photo #2¢4) a5 are the newe!l pasts iphoto #2510

Architectural Variations:

£ Mostof the houses retain their original detadl and gre thus very similar 1n appearance.
 Some notable early interior features that are ot <ommon to all units are the decorative
pressed tin ceiling 1n *407 (photo #27); and the plaster ceiling medallion in the dining
& room of #415 (photo #28). Some of the houses also display modern alterauons that are

. ot of character with the originsl sesthetic and materials. These inciude wall

£ coverings like the fake paneling and brick seen 1n #401 {photo #22 32); and the false

beamed <eilings and raised paneling seen 1n £417 (photos #30, 31).

Iype li-Greep Row, Eim Street and Elm Place:

These five houces date 10 1882 when Concord State Pricon wes redesignated as the
Massachusetts Reformator Prison for Men. A sixth house on Elm Street, adjacent 10 the
Assabet River, was lost sometme 1n the Z20th century. These houses are similar in scale,
materials and pretension to the 1578 White Row houses descrited as Type 1.

Exterior Appearance:

The typical Green Row structure 15 a wood-frame double-howse that rises 2and 1/2
stories Irom & brick foundanuon 10 an overhanging slate gable roof with interior stove
chimneys. [t 15 cheathed with ¢lapboards and trimmed with cornerboards, watertable
and fascia with half-round mo!lding underiining the entire roof profile. Fenestration
is regular and siigned at the first and second swories: windows are rimmed with
excepuonally narrow frames end louvered. shutters, and sontain 2/2 Joutle-hung sach.

The svmmertrical six bay facade {s recused on paired entries with moided frames that
contain glazed and paneled double-lear doors (photos #7333, 34, alew of the doors retain
their original etched and frosted glass (photo #35). The entries are fronted by asingie
porch whose shallow hip roof is supported by decorarive curved brackets at the ends. A
rail with simple squared posts and balusters runs along the edge of the porch and the
five steps which lead up to 1t (photos #33, 34, 36). Paired windows occupy the outer
bays. Six windows are eligried at:0ve these vindowrs and doors 23 the second story.

The side elevations contain *wn windows et each story, with those 1n the ati¢ more
¢losely spaced (photo #37).

The rear (Eest or South j elevauocn is dominated by a one storv Kitchen ell with a tall
stove chimney supporied by diagonal braces attached 10 the t¥0 main chimnevs

(photos #38, 33). The ell iz centered on the rear elevauon which contains single
windows (n the outermost tawr. A bulkhead. framed by single windows. 12 2entered on
this elevauon. Both sides of the ell consist of three baves. with windows occupving the
inner bays and entries in the outer ©a7s: the entries are headed b dbracketed heonds 2and
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Boontaun oiaced and ganeled doarr (f koto #ald) atowe 1ne 2]

faur evenly spaced WIndows.
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Free standing, gable roofed. wood Irame garages that prodably Jate trom the 13205 or
g30s are located tehind the 10 Elm Street house {photo #4l ). Thece garagze: io not
contribute 10 the historic/architectural significance of the Green Row.

= Interior ADPEArsnce:

he Type-11 house is a double-house sonsisung of 10 Mirror 1MSge units connected by
- a central party wall which is constructed of brick. Common {1ving spaces occupy the

. first story with bedrooms at the second and atu¢ stories. Rooms are gzenerously sized
with high ceilings; oversized windows admit abundant light. Interior finishes include
1ath and plaster walls and <eilings, wnod floors, and molded window and 4oor ¢asIngs
with bull's eve corner blocks iphoto #44). The newel posts and balusters are turned
with heavy proportons (photo #42;. Doors ere four paneled with long narrov penels
over more squared panels; this is & typical later 13th century form (photo #473).

The plan 1s tvpicel of those developed for this house type during the {9th century
 (plan * ) The main entrance 1=ads into a stairhall adjacent 1o the party wall. Adjacent
to the stairhall sre the living room or parlor, and the dining room which occupy the
prominent and well lighted corner spaces. The ¢itchen occupies the one story rear ell.

Typically, the front room is a living room with a passegeway leeding 10 the dining room
directly tehind. The dining room 1s equipped with a tuilt-in siorege cioset (photo #44)
and has direct access 1o the kitchen. Both rooms have wood flooring end plain
mopboards. Stoves served by the common 1nterior chimney were the original heaung
source (photo ¥45).

The kitchens sre large rooms: finished with vertical wainsooming. They were
originally equipped with s1oves served by the fluzs on the party walls. storage
pantries are located on the interior walls adjacent 1 the cellar stairs (photo #4603, while
working pantries and rear vesubules take up the outer walls.

At the second story, large bedrooms with original closets occupy the spaces above the
living end dining rooms. They were also heated by s1oves serwed by the 1aterior
chimnevs. Smaller rooms that may originally have served [or swrage flank the star.
the one 1o the rear hes been converted 10 bathroom use (513357, The door and window
casings are identical to those of the first siory as are the four panzl Joors; staur detadls
are substantielly simpler however (photo #47). Floors are sll cf wide pine toards.

The attic story follows the plan of the cecond story but displays substentislly simpler

finishes. Door and window casings are simplified to plain boards (photo *#48). four
panel doors are retained, as are wide pine {100rs.

architectural Yariations:

Most of the houses retain their original detail and are thus very cimilar in appearance.
Some notable eariy interior {=atures that are not common to all units are the Jecorative
pressed tin ceiling in *19 {photwp #49); the plaster ceiling medallion 1n the upper ront
room of 13 {photo #50); zn i e glaster floral melding which encircles the dining
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gfrroinimartely S0 T elow the cetline 10 create 3 desnrar e frieze 1n =375

: photo *44). Scme of the houses also display modern alteratons. such as svnthetic wall
 mater:als, that are our of charaster wvath the oriZinal agsthens and materials | [n others,
imporiant original features have been removed itke the talusters {rom the main stair
(photo *42).

Type 111 Phite Rov including 395403 Commonwealth Row

These two houses date 10 <1900. Research into their origins hes thus far been
inconclusive, although it is likely that they were constructed by the state, since they

' sto0d on lend owned by the prison. They are the southernmost houces on

- Commonwealth Row. Thev are bordered by Type I houses (North ), raiiroad tracks

- (South), and a wooded srea (West); thev face the prison wall across Commonwealth Row
(East).

Exterior Appearance:

These two houses ere basicadly mirror-images with strong similarities in plan,

elevation and detsil: they are not identcal as are the Type I and I houses however.

. Both are wood-freme duplexes that rise 2 and 1/2 stories from either a brick (#335-67)

. or uncoursed granite (¥401-03) foundation to0 an overhanging ssphalt roof (photo #63).
Both fece gable end 10 the street. Thev are sheathed with clapboard, end ere trimmed

with watertables, cornerboards and molded fascias. A decorative verzeboard and

* corner brackets trim the roofline of #401-03. Fenestration is generally regular, and

aligned at the first and second stories. Windows are framed by molded surrounds and

leuvered shutters: they contain 2/2 double hung sesh {photos *51, 52).

The fecades ere dominated by two story corches wath chamfered posts and breces. and
rails with square balusters (photo #53). Twn story aquared tays, with paired windows
fecing front and sinzle windows on the sides, rise along the north (#401-03) and south
(¥395-97) sides of the facades (photo #54). At toth stories. paired double-leaf entries
occupy the remaining bavs. The doors have glazed upper panels with & irame of smali-
pened Queen Anne sash over solid panels defined b7 zrooved moldings wth
cornerblocks (photo #35). At 401-03, these outer doors open 1nto smsll vestbules wath
similar but more simply detailed inner doors. Two windows ozsupy the gable ¢ lizht
the atti< story.

Fenestration of the side elevauons is irreguler with &t least twice as @many windows on
the side with the bay as the side with the entries. Although the spacing and numbers
of windows is inconsistent, most of the openings are aligned at the first and second
stories (photos #56, 57).

The rear elevations are quite different (photo #58). A two story stair tower dominates
the reer of #401-03; mindows with 2/2 sash are located on the sides of this element at
the first and second stories. An entry with four panel door and braced shed roof, and a
basement entry are {ocated on the tower (photo #59). At #395-G7 the stairs are
contained within the tuilding. An entry with five paneled door and braced shed roof
occupies the southernmost bay with & basement door immediately adjacent 10 the north.
The remainder of this elevation includes two windows aligned at the first and second
stories, and Two windows centered in the attic {photos #60, 61 ).

—
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330s are located behind these hiouses (photo *82). These garazes do not contribute o
the histeric/architecrural sigaificance of *he ¥hive Row.

Interior Appesrance:

. The Type-1II house is a duplex with identical units ptaced one above the other. Its
straightforwvard plan places ¢common living spaces along one side wall, and the
entrance hall and bedrooms along the other (plan *# ). The bedrooms open directly into
the living arees avoiding the wasted space of & corridor. All of the doors display the
same four panel configuration as those 1n the Type I and 11 houses {photo *£3). Wood
flcors sre 13id to create 2 wide outer frame (photo ¥64). The main stairs display slender,
tapered newel posts and balusters (photo *71).

As is 10 be expected. the living rooms occupy the prominent front corner {ocation with
its extra windows snd the added interest of the squared bay projecting onto the por<h
(photos #65, 66). The living room is followed by the dining room with its built-in
storage consisuing of glazed chelves above drawers (photo #67). At £395-97, these two
rooms are conrected by Erench doors. Window and door surrcunds in these %0 rooms
have either 8 heavily molded outer edge (ghoto *#66) or moldings with bullzs-eve corner
blocks (photo #65).

The kitchen is located behind the dining room at the rear of the house. At *401-03,a
pentry protrudes into the resr of the kitchen, end a bathroom {photo #68) end
vestit-uls are {ocated adiacent to the rear wall. Rear stairs are located in the external
stair tower (photo 69). At #395-07, a bathroom is litted egainst the forward wall of the
kitchen. while 3 pantry and stair take up the rear wall. The kitchens are finished with
vertical wainscoung and plain board surrounds for windows and doors (photo £70).

Un the cpposite side, the Iront hell and meain starcase is followed by three bedrcoms of
equal size, all of which have small closets. Windows and doors in these rooms hiave
sornerblock currounds. At #39%-37 there sre two finished attic bedrooms

{photos #72. 73).

PRESERVATION CORSIDERATIORS:

The Massachusetts Historical Commision hes expressed the opinion that the White and
Green Rows at MCI Concord are eligible for listing in the Nations! and State Registers of
Historic Places. This opinion has been clearly stated in recent correspondence with the
Division of Capital Planning and Operations and the Department of Corrections. This
report concurs in that conclusion of eligibility. Thus, this sesuon of the report
outlines the standards that are applied 10 the rehabilitation of hictoric buildings.

The Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation are the naticnal stendards
that have been developed 10 evaluate the appropriateness of work on historic buildings.
They =re used at the federal, state and local levels. They assume that historic materials
and features =re important, and that thus, they should be retained wherever pocsible.



They alzo recommuend a two S1gp procecs Ior valuauon. The ot 12 thetdentisanuon of
materials and features that plav a kev role in defining histonc character. The second
i the assessment of the 1mpact of proposed Work on igse materels a 14 feawures. The
Standards specify treatments that ere acceptable and unacceptable for all parts ora
building. The Standards are attached as an appendix 10 this report.

At its most basic. the advice of the stendards is 10 alter historic structures as iittie as
possible while bringing them int0 efficient contemporary use. [tis rarelyif ever
possible 10 achieve the goal of efficient coNIEMPOrary use Withow making some
changes. Changes are necessitated bv numerous ractors including deterioraucn of
original materials, by the spanal requrements of a new use, by the need 10 meet
tuilding codes, or by the desire to make a building more energy efficient.

Most of these factors will probably come 1nto play during a rehabilitation of these
nouses. Certainly some features sre deteriorated and will have 10 be repiaced. On the
exterior, ¥indow sash and shutters. gutters and fascia, and porch decking and stairs are
obvious examples (photos #74, 75, 74): plaster rinishes are the mort CRMON 1NTET10T
problem (photo #76). Because these elements are 1mportant w the character of the
houses, cere should be taken 10 duplicate extsnng groporucns and materials.
Proportions ere critical; in scme cases alternste materials with simular visual qualiues
may be accepled as subsututes.

To begin 10 apply the Secretary's Standards 10 the White and Green Rows. it is necessary
to 1dentif’y their "character defining " 2lements. Selow is a discussion of what makes
these buildings historically siznifisant, and & list of character defining festures that
should be preserved.

The tweive wood-frame doutle-houses which constitute the White and Green Rows are
remarkabdly well preserved with mast of thetr original exter:or and interior features
remeining tntact. This high degree of preservation is unusual because of their age,
because of their use by laree numbers of tenants, and especially tecause they have
senerally not been perceived as historic by eitner their owner or their occupants.

The White and Green Row houses were consiructed by the state 5 inexpensive and
simply decigned workingemen's dweilings. Their verwy lack of fancy ornamentaton or
expensive materials bears testimony 10 their origins. In the case of simple, traditional
These renge from things like massing and proportion 10 specilic elements like
slapboard siding. slate roofs and fenestrauon ¢attern on the £1erior, and door and
window casings on the interior.

houses such as these, it is basic elements that are central 1o defining historic characier.

These common elements are 1mporiant not only 1o the integrity of the individual
nouses, but 10 the integrity of the group &< & whole. Much of therr historical end
architectural significance derives from their proximity and identcal appearance,
which clearly tndicate their rroup origing. 0ne of the MOst 1mpressive aspects of these
houses is the way in which they relate 10 one another not onlv 3s identical pieces of
architecture, but aiso in their identical siting, including specing and setback

{photos *77, 78. 73). The presence of #431-33 Commonwealth Row clearlv demonsirales
how changes that do not recogyaize the importance of original idenucal features {here
the primary problem 1 & reduction in window size and the substitution of 878 sash for
2/2) can disrupt the cohesive qualities of the ensemble (photo #80). Other seemingly
small chenges to e1ther their architectural features or their siting would produce
similar problems.
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Features 10 be preserveq:

Exterior: Itis mostimportant 1o preserte regtures that are wicitle to the public from
Commonweelth Row. Thus, the facades essume primary importance with the side and

rear elevations a <lose second.

1. clapboard siding

2. trim including cornerbeoards. watertable and fascias

AW ]

. windows including size and locauon, casings, 2.2 sesh, shutters

-

o

.doors including size end location. casings, glazed and paneled doors
5. porches including posts, braces and talustrades and trim

6. slate roofs

7.¢himneys

8. kitchen ells

Interior: The besic advice of the Secretary's Stendards should be heeded: 4o as little as
possibie to dicrupt the plan, or remove ariginal feetures while accamodating the needs
of a new use. Neither the plans or interior finishes of these houses are remarkable for
their period, but they do provide ameniues of space and light not common in New
construction. To prioritize, 1t 15 most important to preserve the plan and finishes of the
first story main rooms since they are the most elaborate and the most visible. The
steirhall is partucularly importsnt becauce 1t refates so strongly to the exterior entry.

l.¢lan
2. window =nd 4oor casings

3. staircases end stearhail

The Hational and State Registers of Historic Places

The National Register was created by Congress in 1966 es the centerpiece of the
National Historic Preservation Act. Psssage of this major piece of legisiation responded
large!ly to the mass destrucuoa of historic properties brought about by such federal
demolition programs as urben renews! and interstate highway construction. from the
beginning, the National Register was intended as a pianning toof for use by federal
agencies whose actions might 4amsge important historic and archaeological resources.
It was a red flag vhich required the f=deral agency to consider ‘prudent and feasitle”
slternatives before irrevosably destroming a piece of the nation ¢ historv. It eifected
projects that were funded. licenced or permitted by a federal agency.



I 2idiuon 1o provecusn oo federat azencizl the Hauonal Peginter promilen oo
recognilion of hustoric value. 31d allgws SWnelrs ¢f incotae producinis Froperties Wotake
advantage of federal tex incentves [or approwed rehabilitauon ~mri Hautnal
Register properues are also eligible for federal matching grants when (und are
available.

I
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The Commonwealth of Massachusetts has taken Zeveral Cucns 10 complement the
federal legisiation. A State Register of Historic Places, which automatcally iniudss all
National Register properues, was created by Chapter 152 of the Acts of 1982, Ttate
Register properues are protected from acuons by state agencies 1 the same way that
National Register propertiec are protected from federal actions. State Register
properies in private non-profit or governmential ownership are eligible 1or & state
matching grants program 101 approved rehabilitation work. Historic properues are

also exempted from some provisions of the State Building Code bv Section 4736,

The process for listing & property or ereain the Nationial Register invoives several
steps. Firstis the completion oI an inventory form which provndes pasic architectural
and historic information. Thiz 15 usually sccomplished by alocal historical
~ommission. The form 15 submitred to the Mascachusetts Historical Commission (MHC: an
office of the Secretarv of State) far inclusion in the inventory of the Historic Assets of
the Commonweaith. The next step 15 an evatuauon of significance by the staff of the
MHC accomplished by applying the Hauonal Register crieria (see appendix). Thisis
followed by completion of & Naucnal Register nomination form which i similar 10 but
more detailed then the inventory form. This step is often undertaken by alocal
historical commission, but anv interested party may complete the form. The form 1s
reviewed for accuracy and completeness by MHC staff, and is then presented to the
members of MEC for aformal vote on eligibility. The finel step is submission 10 the
Keeper of the National Register at the National Perk Service in Washington, DC. for
approval at the federel level. AS previousty mentioned. listing in the National Register
automaticelly means lisung in the State Register. as of 1335 approximately 32,000
properties were listed in the State Regucter.

BIBLIOGRAPHY:

Forbes, Anne McCarthv. The White Ladies and The Green Fow Prison ¥orkers' Houses
in Concord. MA by the Commornwealth of Massachuserts 1337, U apublizhed
Manuscript.

Marden, George Augustus. Government of the {ommonwenith of Massachuretts: 4
Souvenir. ‘The New State Frison, Concord” James Usgood & Co. Boston. 1350.

Messechusetts Historical Commession. Inventorvof the Historic Ascers of the
Commonwealth. Concord forms: Feformatory Circle area Varden : House, Reformatory
ares Commonwealth Avenue streetscape, Elm Place streetccape. 1963, 1938,

ot tah

Natione!l Park Service. The Zecretarwaf the Interior'e Standards for Behabilitauon.
rev. 1383.

Rothmen, David ]. The Discoveryof the Asylum . Little, Brown & Co. Boston. 1971.

Con -

L

e



Con.T
Community: Q on cal
MHC OPINION: ELIGIBILITY FOR NATIONAL REGISTEK
i Date Received: 9 /7.6 / T Date Reviewed: T / 2% /I 87

Type: Individual District (Attach map indicating boundaries)

Name: Ceneend 'Pk\'—‘mmprm\' AcvosiNG Inventory Form: (MED@

Address: 295 -41) Commowrolvie e | 8715 -887 Elma S, 24-41 Elm Tlocs

Requested by: Aane Yerlas S/Qem cad Histew e Comnission Area T o
Action: Honor ITC Grant R&C Other: Rue CT
Agency:"D_.(:\. aé Staff in charge of Review:
Condleeons
INDIVIDUAL PROPERTIES DISTRICTS 5
__ Eligible __ Eligible
__ Eligible, also in district ___Ineligible
__ Eligible only in district _V'More information needed
__Ineligible
ag“More information needed
CRITERIA: A B C D
LEVEL: ’ Local State National

|}

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE by Kalluriva \Seewa~ ’
v wetken's L\M‘WL:X oanacioked ué‘\—\« Ccv\co\é\ /‘R).Qamd-m»)
~ claan Sioswig'Cw CG\ Ha wsle Vel ’\)\o..a._‘eé\ 'lv\‘i({/\‘l FQS\'&U/J'\CA
M\W yé ll\\(S\' COV\CC\\& : M}& oA Gun {
:‘?AWU ﬂ Stule 'sPa\Asm':\ »\\m,\f&/\'ﬁ ‘A—KUMMS— \-qurm,
SO YN} Q £ A avsliets Mocea Wnumas G e e
*o Drsen connplax 1mal() and ot oaneceted huildivas
T S B e Pl P M gL o &ss(ﬂo\ :
Hara Mownns wenw\d \ocy‘cal\w\ nddudq Yhene oMo loaw\\c\MﬂjS
(th Leont Miosa vishl 4 M\a’?\k\é\ic — bu\Alnas w o s
N,Qmmo-hm‘\ wel\ s con)d ‘aac\oc\\o\,t.\\ra_n. wc)au-d&w& . Mm \
S V\Ju.&sz_c\ o duken naane \oa'\)\vn&wu;es‘ Crdbnia., ol Aakes
P siqudicarn QL s district :

12/85



